VILNIUS UNIVERSITY MEDICAL FACULTY

The Final thesis

Postpartum Depression

Students (name, surname), group	Nanaz Najafipour, Group 3
Department/ Clinic	Obstetrics and Gynaecology
Supervisor	Prof. dr. Virginija Paliulyte
Consultant (if applicable)	
The Head of Department/Clinic	Prof. dr. Diana Ramasauskaite
	2023-05-14
Email of the student: nanaz.najafipour@	mf.stud.vu.lt

Table of contents

Summary	3
Keywords	4
Introduction	4
Literature search strategy	5
Diagnosis	5
Predictors for postpartum depression	5
The underlying mechanism of PPD	8
- Hormones	8
- Genetic	9
Epidemiology	10
Screening tool	10
Different diagnosis	12
- Postpartum Blues	12
- Postpartum Psychosis	13
Consequence	14
- Maternal consequence	14
- Child consequence	15
Treatment	17
- Psychological treatment	18
- Pharmacotherapy	19
Prevention	21
Recommendation to family and staff	23
Conclusion	24
Reference	25

Summary

Postpartum depression PPD is a term for severe postpartum depression that can affect any new mother. PPD is one of the leading causes of pregnancy-related death and can range from severe to minor. Around 10 to 25% of mothers worldwide are estimated by the WHO to have PPD. However, it is assumed that this number is significantly higher. This can be due to various factors, one of which is the possibility that PPD goes undiagnosed. This can happen when a woman lives in a country where healthcare providers are either underfunded or lack knowledge about PPD, resulting in undiagnosed and inadequate treatment. Another issue is that mothers are frequently embarrassed to acknowledge their despair brought on by a worry of being labelled as inadequate mothers by society, their partner, and their family. It has been proven over time that PPD has numerous risk factors that can manifest themselves prior to conception, throughout the course of pregnancy, and after delivery. It is the responsibility of the woman's healthcare professional to ensure that all of her previous and current mental health is recorded. The gestational age of the baby, the mother's age, and gestational diabetes are three risk factors that have only recently been identified; further research is ongoing.

Suicide, self-harm, and newborn injury have been the most tragic effects of PPD in recent years. Tools for screening have been developed to stop this fatal PPD result. Therefore, by using these screening tools both during pregnancy and after delivery, healthcare professionals are able to identify and provide the appropriate support and treatment. The type of treatment given to a patient depends on how severe their PPD is; if it's mild to moderate, they receive psychological care; if it's severe, they receive both psychotherapy and pharmaceuticals.

Due to the fact that PPD is a worldwide mental health issue, many nations have developed their own prevention guidelines that are distributed to all midwives, obstetrics, gynaecological, and family medicine offices.

Keywords

Postpartum depression, postpartum blues, postpartum psychosis, consulting, Cognitive-behavioral therapy, interpersonal psychotherapy, behavioural activation, EPDS, psychodynamic therapy, RCT, suicidal Risk factors, antidepressant medications,

Introduction

Postpartum depression (PPD) is a severe global mental health disorder that can affect any new mother after giving birth. It is estimated that approximately 10% - 25% of the world's postpartum women are affected by PPD, and by expert opinion, it is assumed that 9% of new mothers in Lithuania are affected by PPD.

The duration of PPD can be from 2 weeks after giving birth to up to 1 year, which is different from postpartum blues. The postpartum blue starts shortly after the birth and remains up to one week.

Every woman has a different experience of PPD; some can be affected mildly, and the disorder does not significantly impact their life. But some are affected severely, as seen in their daily chores, impacting the mother-infant relationship. The inability to take care of the infant leads to the neglect of the infant and its longstanding impact on the child's life. Many women feel it has also affected their relationships with their partners, friends, and family.

In recent years we have seen the devastation of untreated PPD resulting from women's suicidal or inflicting harm to the infant or children, resulting in their demise.

This thesis explores the various factors contributing to the development of PPD, its impact on new mothers, infant and their families and the importance of available interventions for prevention and treatment.

Literature search strategy

In this literature review, studies were conducted over the last 10 years, and the important changes over the years were studied. In the study research, the Vilnius University medical faculty online library was used. The database that was included was the PubMed scientific database, Elsevier, SpringerLink and Google Scholar. The search words used were postpartum depression, postpartum depression treatment, postpartum depression screening tools, and postpartum, postpartum suicide.

Diagnosis

Postpartum depression (PPD) is a depression that most mothers worldwide experience after giving birth. However, what makes it different from other depressions and postpartum blues is the duration and the symptoms that the mothers are expressing. PPD occurs within the first four weeks of birth to 12 months(1). A mixture of depressed mood, lack of interest, anhedonia, disturbed appetite, attention deficit disorder, psychomotor disruption, exhaustion, and feelings of guilt or worthlessness. Together with mood swings, worry, impatience, overload, and obsessional fears or preoccupation often regarding the baby's health, feeding, and bathing safety are other PPD symptoms. Suicidal ideas are very prevalent, and some PPD sufferers also have thoughts of harming their offspring (2). It is crucial to recognize patients with suicidal ideas or thoughts of harming their newborn so they can be referred to a psychiatric assessment immediately to avoid tragic outcomes.

Predictors for postpartum depression

Countless risk factors have been accurately identified, determining pregnant women at risk before, during and after the pregnancy and developing a treatment plan for prevention and intervention.

In a study that was conducted in 2021, all the risk factors were studied and conformed (table 1) (3,4)

Before pregnancy	During pregnancy	After pregnancy
Age-related factors:	Unplanned pregnancy	Childs gender (male)

D :	I	
- Being a young		
mother (<25 years)		
- Being an older		
mother (>35 years)		
Education level low	Unwanted pregnancy	Childs health problems
Employment-related factors	Smoking/ alcohol/ substance	Negative experience of the
- Work <12 h a week	use	first week postpartum
Life events related factors:	Life events related factors:	Feeding related factors
- Experience >3 life	- Experienced >1 life	- No initiation of
events	events	breastfeeding
- Experienced	- Experienced	- No breastfeeding at 3
violence	violence	weeks postpartum
		- Low satisfaction
		with feeding
Relationship related	Relationship related	Crying related factors
experience	experience	- Crying meets Wessel
- With the suppose		criteria
- With the family		- Experiencing crying
		as excessive
		- Experiencing
		difficulties in
		soothing
Being single mother	Depression during	Sleep related factors:
	pregnancy	- Sleep of mother
		disturbed
Lifetime history of	Medical complications	Maternal self-efficacy in
depression		parenting
		- Low SENR- score
First parity	Negative pregnancy	Social support related
	experience	factors:
		- Low support partner
		- Lows support
		network

	- Low SS12-I score
Preterm birth	Health related factors:
	- Poor current health
	of the mother
Delivery related factors:	
- Complications	
during delivery	
- Negative delivery	
experience	
- Delivery at home	
	Delivery related factors: - Complications during delivery - Negative delivery experience

In Table 1 Measured maternal risk factors from the periods before, during and after pregnancy (3)

All of the risk factors that are essential for triggering PPT are outlined in Table 1. As the table shows, risk factors are significant both before and during pregnancy, not only after delivery(3).

One of the most crucial factors not mentioned in the 2021 review (table 1) is biological, including a history of depression or other mental disorders in the family and genetic loading(5). It could be hereditary if the mother or sister had PPD, the possibility for the woman to have PPD is high (2).

In the study that was conducted in 2014, 1,423 women participated without any risk factors for PPD. The conclusion is that the trigging of PPD is during pregnancy; they saw a 10% increase in the risk of PPD and a significant clinical increase of five-point on the Patient health questionnaire PHQ-9. It was discovered that pregnancy diabetes plays a role in developing PPD(6). As the significantly large figure suggests, gestational diabetes mellitus GDM is an epidemiolocal condition; the prevalence in the USA is 7.8% and worldwide is 17% (33,34,35,36,37,38). The most recent research indicates that one of the causes of PPD is GDM, which should serve as a strong indication to healthcare practitioners that PPD after birth in moms with GDM needs to be addressed (6).

A large-scale, statewide investigation carried out in Sweden revealed three key characteristics linked to PPD. Women with a history of depression and those who are older than 35 were found to play a significant role in the triggering of PPD, and this is a big indication that the

age of the mother has a significant role in PPD (7). The mother's age must be taken into account when providing medical care to her, particularly if she is a teenager, a very young mother, or over 35 and needs to have a plan in place for PPD following delivery.

The shorter the gestation week was >32, and from 32 to 36 weeks, the higher the risk for PPD emerged. This was another significant component found (7).

The underlying mechanism of PPD

Postpartum depression has a complex pathogenesis that is still being studied. Yet, there is proof that biological elements, including hormones, and genetics, may be involved.

In this thesis, we will mainly focus on the impact of hormones and genetics on PPD.

Hormones

It has long been known that steroid hormones have a significant role in PPD or depression overall. The quick transition of progesterone and estrogen during pregnancy and after delivery may contribute to the etiology of PPD.

Hormonal withdrawal is one of the possibilities; it has been shown that estradiol levels rise during the third trimester and then sharply fall after delivery, which has led to the belief that it is one of the causes of PPD. The majority of investigations comparing the levels of reproductive hormones in depressed and non-depressed postpartum women have been unable to demonstrate a connection between depression and these hormones. Clinical success with estradiol therapy has largely been ineffective. During late hormone add-back and withdrawal, women with a history of PPD had more severe depression symptoms than women without a history of PPD(2,8,9). There is enough evidence to conclude that alterations in estradiol and progesterone contribute to postpartum mood dysregulation, despite the challenges in synthesising findings from experimental and naturalistic studies of the impact of perinatal hormones on mood(8).

The dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis HPA axis (a major neuroendocrine system) was hypothesised to have a part in the emergence of PPD in reviews

from earlier years(8). Despite the indications of aberrant HPA axis function, including hypercortisolemia and excessive diurnal cortisol secretion in PPD women.

There was numerous research into the potential significance of the stress hormone cortisol and corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) as potential causes of PPD. However, all of the studies came up empty. They failed to provide evidence that cortisol and CHR are one of the factors that trigger PPD(10).

Because of its critical function in the mother-infant bonding process, oxytocin is another hormone-based topic that has researchers intrigued. According to a study done in 2011 by skrunds et.al. it was found that women with oxytocin levels that dropped in the third trimester and an Edinburgh postnatal depression scale EPDS of 10 or above were predicted to have severe PPD within 2 weeks window. The more recent research came to the same conclusion. They also offered the possibility that the change from gestation to postpartum would be a crucial time period for oxytocin predictors of PPD(9,10).

Although multiple studies have failed to show a connection between hormones and PPD, it is still believed that they play an impact factor.

Genetic

The pathophysiology of PPD has also been linked to genetic factors. Given that PPD has a heritability of roughly 50%, genetic variation accounts for 50% of the phenotypic variance observed in PPD (10).

Family and twin studies have provided compelling evidence of the genetic significance of PPD clusters in families. Regardless of the challenges that come with the genetic studies, several well-established studies on PPD genetic markers have discovered some polymorphisms that are also present in nonperinatal depression, such as the Val66Met polymorphism of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. More than 1,200 women participated in genome-wide linkage studies, which revealed genetic differences in the chromosomes 1q21.3-q32.1 and 9p24.3-p22.3, as well as in Hemicentin-1 (HMCN1) gene, which has many estrogen-binding sites. All seem to make PPD more likely to occur. PPD has also been linked to alterations in DNA methylation brought on by estrogens(10,11).

It has been proven through numerous studies over the years that genetics play a significant part in PPD, making it a crucial element that every pregnant woman's healthcare professional must take into consideration.

Epidemiology

In order to discover potential risk factors, develop effective preventive and intervention measurements and understand the prevalence, incidence, and distribution of this mental health issue among new moms, epidemiological research on postpartum depression is essential.

Prevalence rates for PPD differ significantly between high- and low-income nations (12). The WHO estimates that PPD affects 10-15% of new moms. Because of its enormous prevalence, PPD is clearly a significant worldwide health issue that, if left untreated, may occasionally have fatal consequences for the mother and her children (13).

The actual number is probably larger due to a variety of circumstances. The fact that PPD is still frequently misdiagnosed is among the most important ones (5). Taking Sweden as an example, if a woman exhibits PPD symptoms, she is referred by a midwife to a family doctor, who may refer her to a psychological specialist before returning her to the primary care physician. As a result, she does not receive the right diagnosis because she is referred to various health professionals.

Due to economic issues, getting a diagnosis, treatment, and assistance for women is considerably more challenging in low-income nations. Another issue is that healthcare workers frequently lack the resources, including money and knowledge, to recognise PPD. Due to the misconception that being pregnant, giving birth, and being a mother is a joyous experience, many women decide not to ask for assistance out of fear that their partners, families, and society would stigmatise them negatively and label them as unfit mothers.

Screening tools

The following section covers the many screening methods, which are the key component of the prevention of PPD.

For a screening tool to be effective and useful, it must be affordable and simple enough for the woman to comprehend the questions and be able to respond to them. Additionally, they ought to be simple for health professionals to administer and accurate in diagnosing the population that is being screened(14).

Edinburg's postnatal depression scale (EPDS) was introduced in 1987. EPDS is the most used tool around the world in diagnosing PPD. The scale examines mental- state related symptoms rather than somatic symptoms that can be connected to pregnancy and delivery. It takes into account both depression and anxiety symptoms(15). The most widely used thresholds raise test sensitivity while lowering specificity and raising false-positive screening findings (16). Suicidal thoughts, panic attacks, an overwhelming sense of anxiety, anhedonia, melancholy, weariness, sleep problems and tearfulness are only a few of the symptoms that are listed in the self-reported 10-item questionnaire for EPDS. Answering the Questionary takes five minutes(5). An elevated score of 10 implies that PPD may exist and that additional investigation is required(15). The Polish midwives significantly reduced the risk of PPD by screening women with EPDS six weeks after giving birth. This successfully illustrated the significance of the EPDS in the evaluation of PPD and prevention of PPD(5).

The 35-item Postpartum Depression Screening Scale (PDSS), which was developed in 2000, takes between 5 and 10 minutes to complete. The surveys assess major depressive disorder (MDD) symptoms as well as other aspects of postpartum depression, which include suicidal thoughts, loss of self-awareness, mental confusion, emotional lability, anxiety or feelings of insecurity, eating/ sleeping problems and shame.

A positive screen for major or minor PPD is defined as a threshold score of 60. In contrast, a positive screen for serious postpartum depression is defined as a threshold score of 80(16).

A self-administered version of a validated tool, the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ), was originally released in 1999. Each MDD symptom's frequency during the last two weeks is rated on a scale of 0 to 3 by the PHQ-9. It roughly resembles current diagnostic guidelines. The PHQ-9 was verified in significant samples of female individuals before it was assessed for use during pregnancy and the postpartum period.

A threshold score of 10 out of a possible 27 indicates a screening result of at least mild depression, and a score of 20 suggests severe depression (16).

The Beck Depression Inventory-II was created in 1961 and revised in 1996. There are twenty-one questions in it, and patients must choose which one of four first-person statements best describes how they feel in the moment. Sixty-three total points can be earned, with each item being scored from 0 to 3. The threshold values for mild depression are 14, moderate depression 20, and severe depression 29, respectively (16).

There isn't much proof that one is superior to the other, but because the EPDS and PHQ-9 are simple to use and comprehend, most medical professionals and female patients prefer them. PHQ-9 and EPDS are both accessible online.

It is not advised to screen for PPD in the first two weeks following birth due to the potential for false negative results and the challenge of discriminating between baby blue and PPD. It has been proven that applying screening technologies earlier than later leads to lower sensitivity and specificity.

After childbirth, women who are experiencing PPD symptoms should respond to a questionary that speaks to them and articulate their feelings more fully, according to a metaphorical study that was conducted in 2022. Many women who have suffered from PPD provided the eleven metaphors that are being recommended. These eleven metaphors include being stuck, getting slammed with a ton of bricks, having dreams you can't get out of, being a basket case, having cowbs in the brain, feeling worthless, and reaching rock bottom(17). A new questionary should be invented by these metaphors as a question so the health care providers can understand the severity of patients PPD.

Different diagnosis

Postpartum blues

Half of all new mothers in the globe experience postpartum blues. Baby blues is a common explanation given by women who describe their postpartum mood changes as moderate and temporary. Less than two weeks may pass from the time it begins to the first four to ten days after delivery (2,18).

The baby blues are characterized by irritability, mixed emotional lability with dread and tearfulness, a sense of being overtaken by new obligations, hypersensitivity to stimuli, a sense of fatigue, and difficulties focusing attention(5).

The primary distinction between baby blues and PPD is that the symptoms have little to no effect on everyday functioning and do not prevent mother-infant attachment(19).

Since there is no treatment for baby blues, it is recommended that the mother's partner and family act as her supporters (5).

PPD and baby blue differ from each other in three key ways, one of which is the length of the depression. The second difference is that the symptoms are considerably less severe than those of PPD, which brings us to the final distinction; Baby blues has little effect on a woman's ability to operate. Baby blues might become PPD if it lasts longer than three months.

Postpartum psychosis

It is estimated that 0.3-0.6% of new mothers experience postpartum psychosis (PPP), a serious but uncommon mental health illness, but it is likely greater due to misdiagnosis. PPP begin to manifest within the first two weeks following delivery and, if left untreated, can persist for months (20,21).

PPP symptoms include mood swings, sleeplessness, severe depression, and constant worries about the child. However, PPP can very quickly progress into manic episodes that include hallucinations, agitation, confusion and delusions, which can have catastrophic repercussions on both the mother and the child and result in suicide or infanticide. PPP is now a psychiatric emergency that needs to be treated right away(20,22).

One of the biggest risk factors for PPP in women is a history of bipolar disorder, and it has been suggested that PPP may act as a trigger for the condition. Additional risk factors include genetics, abrupt drops in postpartum oestrogen levels, and lack of sleep(20,21).

It has been suggested that if a woman experiences depressive episodes during her pregnancy or right after giving birth, her family history of depression, bipolar illness, or postpartum psychosis should be investigated(2).

PPP can result in disastrous effects; hence it is crucial that it be identified early and treated as soon as possible to prevent suicide or harm to the child(21). It is advised that a woman experiencing a manic episode be admitted to the hospital right away(20).

PPP treatments include psychiatric interventions, such as cognitive behavioral therapy CBT, and pharmaceutical ones, like benzodiazepines. Electroconvulsive therapy is one of the

suggested alternatives; however, few patients are eager to try it despite its successful track

record(20).

Among the actions that can be taken to prevent PPP is the identification of its early symptoms. The second step is recognising and looking into any family history of depression, which leads to the final step of prevention, being seen by a psychiatrist while they are pregnant and coming up with a plan for when the baby is born(20).

Consequence of postpartum depression

Unlike serious depression, PPD has been demonstrated to have a detrimental influence on relationships with partners, family members, and the mother-infant attachment, and the well-being of the infant, which has been shown to have both near and long-lasting impact, in addition to having an adverse effect on the woman's everyday functioning.

In this section, we'll discuss the various consequence of PPD and why early detection and appropriate treatment are crucial.

Maternal impairment

Numerous researchers have determined that giving birth is a substantial risk factor for triggering serious psychiatric diseases while pregnant and that it is the primary cause of postpartum depression(23).

By receiving the proper care, the majority of PPD mothers recover within a few months. However, according to a 2019 study, 13% of women with PPD still experience symptoms two years after giving birth, and 24% do so after just one year. In addition, women with PPD may disregard their physical health and well-being and engage in dangerous behaviours, including substance misuse, self-harm, or even suicide (2).

One of the areas of a woman with PPD that was affected, according to a systemic evaluation conducted in 2017–2019, was her general psychological health. Women admitted to having low self-esteem, dysphoria, and anger management problems. An additional impact of PPD that was examined in this analysis was anxiety and social relationships(24).

Numerous women reported that PPD had a significant negative impact on their relationship with their partners. They described how they felt their spouse was uncommunicative, cold and distant and how this made them feel less confident in their relationship throughout the first year following childbirth(24).

Suicide is one of the most tragic effects of PPD; it is estimated that 11% of postpartum fatalities are caused by suicide, and it is the primary contributor to maternal mortality(25). The child's life, partnership, and family are severely impacted in the wake of the suicide. Lower mother age, lowest social class, prior psychiatric treatment, anxiety disorders, positive depression screening, and recurrent mood disorders are risk factors for suicide during the postpartum period. Severity, early onset of significant postpartum mental illness, and risk of recurrence after childbirth are associated(26).

Chronic depression and severe mood disorders, particularly bipolar illness, which were more noticeable in the early stages of the postpartum period, are two risk factors that have a major impact on PPD suicide. Recurrent severe mental illnesses, notably depression, were linked to 8% of postpartum suicide attempts in France(26).

A study found that postpartum mothers with anxiety disorders had a nearly seven-fold higher risk of suicide(26).

Child consequence

The detrimental effects of PPD persist throughout the immediate postpartum period into infancy and youth. Women with PPD who are expressing depressed symptoms are less likely to take their children to doctor appointments and utilize home safety devices or put their

infants in the proper sleeping position. The improper usage of car seats, poor methods for putting babies to sleep, and unsafe water heater temperature settings are also linked to PPD. Mothers with PPD are more prone to abuse and neglect their children, endangering a newborn's safety and well-being(8).

The caregiving of newborns is one of the most impacted areas by PPD, and research has shown that this impact is disadvantageous to the infant's life.

Breastfeeding, one of the mother's early interactions with her child, demonstrates one of PPD's earliest effects. In addition to being crucial for a baby's development, breastfeeding fosters a mother-child attachment(8). It was determined in a review from 2014 that mothers with PPD suffered from breastfeeding concerns, challenges, and unfavourable attitudes. Furthermore, it was determined that PPD was linked to shorter breastfeeding length and discussion(27)

We then discuss the following effect on the infant's life caused by shorter nursing or discontinuance. Researchers have connected PPD to children who are underweight and stunted in their first year. Numerous studies have demonstrated that children whose mothers had PPD did not gain as much weight and that their growth throughout the first five years was also impacted(24,28).

PPD was linked to behavioural, cognitive, and health-related repercussions for the developing child, which we shall go into more detail about, according to a 2013 article(8).

The effects of PPD on children and its influence from the first six months after delivery are linked to behavioural issues from early childhood to adolescence, according to Avanet. et al.'s 2011 study. The four behavioural types are negative emotionality, positive emotionality, internalising psychopathology, and externalising psychopathology(8).

It has been determined that PPD predicts lower language and IQ development in kids, and this effect is present throughout childhood and adolescence. Furthermore, it was determined how much and for how long the child might have been exposed, and it was also determined that a depressed mother might have overlooked a child's learning and developmental delay(8).

Due to her depression, the mother may neglect or be unable to take the child to well-being examinations, which have been linked in numerous studies between PPD and children's poorer cardiovascular health, increased diarrheal episodes, infant coli infections, and lower respiratory tract infections(8,24).

Treatment

After a woman has been diagnosed with PPD or has some risk factors during pregnancy, we begin with the appropriate therapy. The ideal approach to PPD management is a thorough and frequently multidisciplinary one (table 2)(2). The primary goal of treatment is to lessen or eliminate PPD's harmful effects, such as suicide, self-harm, and newborn injury.

According to Figure 2, the lady is offered the acquired treatment depending on the woman's PPD severity. Some women solely receive psychotherapy, such as cognitive behaviour therapy CBT or interpersonal therapy IPT, depending on the severity of their PPD and their preferences. The lady is provided both counselling and pharmaceutical treatments, such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors SSRI if PPD is severe(2)

It is crucial to remember that treating maternal depression may not alone improve maternal-child interactions and child outcomes, although recent research indicated that CBT, IPT, and antidepressants have a good impact on parental acceptance and attention to newborn and child behaviour(2).



Figure 2

Stepped care management of postpartum depression (PPD). Safety of mother and infant should be continually reassessed at each level of care such that emergency services can be initiated if required. Abbreviations: CBT, cognitive behavior therapy; ECT, electroconvulsive therapy; IPT, interpersonal therapy; SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor.

Psychosocial and psychological interventions

Due to concerns about its adverse effects on the health of the nursing infant, PPD women prefer psychotherapy to pharmacological intervention. Because of this, a woman with mild to moderate PPD is now first given the choice of psychotherapy (Table 2)(2). The best psychosocial therapy that can be offered to women with PPD has been the subject of numerous studies over the years. The successful ones include CBT and IPT, both of which have been modified for PPD patients(1,2,29,30).

Women are offered various interventions, such as in-person group sessions with other PPD patients, home visits by a midwife or healthcare professional, and internet-based interventions(1,4).

According to cognitive-behavioral therapy CBT, maladaptive cognitions, which appear in various settings as automatic erroneous thought patterns followed by maladaptive behaviours, are responsible for developing and maintaining mental diseases and psychological suffering. Maladaptive cognitions can be changed to relieve symptoms and lessen emotional suffering(31).

With 10 to 20 seasons lasting 12 to 16 weeks, CBT is a time-limited technique that allows patients with severe depression to participate in one season every week. The way CBT has been modified for PPD patients centres on the mother's relationship with her child, ranging from an emphasis on explicit parenting skills and training to a focus on practical aid that a mother might acquire in handling her new role(1).

According to Lewinshn et al., participating in a 12-week group program can help individuals understand how pleasant activities can affect their mood. The program also involves identifying activities that are beneficial for both the mother and baby and recognizing healthy and unhealthy thoughts related to the mother and baby(1).

An organised, time-limited treatment for depression that emphasises interpersonal interactions and functioning is known as interpersonal psychotherapy IPT. It has been demonstrated to be useful for prenatal depression, reducing the amount of time needed to recover and extending remission(31).

The IPT intervention is a multicomponent model of therapy that includes a pretreatment engagement session, eight acute sessions, and maintenance lasting up to six months postpartum(31).

The transition to motherhood, quitting the workforce, and adjusting to new dynamics in the matrimonial relationship as well as with family, friends, and coworkers are some of the challenges that women with PPD deal with. These challenges are at the heart of the IPT approach to PPD treatment. As a result, postpartum depression women typically reaffirm the IPT's fundamental assumptions and see the intervention as pertinent to their presenting issues(1).

There is proof in favour of the use of psychosocial interventions for women with mild PPD, including peer support and nondirective counselling from a trained professional. Because the provider has first-hand experience with the condition, peer support is unique from other psychosocial support techniques. It has been tested in clinical studies that were conducted both physically and remotely, over the phone and, more recently, through e-health technology. Peer support is very well received by women and has the potential to alleviate PPD symptoms by itself. Although it may not be as effective as psychological or pharmacological interventions, nondirective counselling provided by professionals or paraprofessionals may reduce symptoms(2).

Unfortunately, in many researchers, the results have been incomplete because many participants chose not to appear because either they are too occupied with the baby and too exhausted to leave the house Or they are terrified of the negative reactions they might receive from their family and society and are too ashamed to ask for help for their depression and are afraid of the negative backlash they can face from the family and society(4).

Pharmacological intervention

As previously mentioned, due to concerns about the effects antidepressants may have on the health of the fetus and the baby, pregnant women with PPD risk factors and breastfeeding mothers with PPD decline to take antidepressants. As indicated in Table 2, antidepressants are therefore recommended for treatment in patients with severe PPD, frequently in conjunction with CBT or IPT(2,19,29).

SSRIs are the class of antidepressants that have been demonstrated to pass through breastmilk very little or not at all. They are the first line of treatment for PPD depression(2,19).

Compared to other SSRIs, studies have shown sertraline and citalopram to be the most effective and well-tolerated. It has been demonstrated in numerous case studies that breastfeeding moms who were taking these two antidepressants also had healthy newborn blood levels and no short-term side consequences(29).

Medication	American Academy of Pediatrics	American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists*
Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors		
Citalopram (Celexa)	NA	L3
Escitalopram (Lexapro)	NA	L3 in older infants
Fluoxetine (Prozac)	Unknown, of concern	L2 in older infants; L3 in neonates
Fluvoxamine	Unknown, of concern	L2
Paroxetine (Paxil)	Unknown, of concern	L2
Sertraline (Zoloft)	Unknown, of concern	L2
Tricyclic antidepressar	nts	
Amitriptyline	Unknown, of concern	L2
Desipramine	Unknown, of concern	L2
Doxepin	Unknown, of concern	L5
Nortriptyline (Pamelor)	Unknown, of concern	L2
Serotonin-norepineph	rine reuptake inhibitor	s
Duloxetine (Cymbalta)	NA	Not evaluated
Venlafaxine	NA	L3
Other antidepressants	5	
Bupropion (Wellbutrin)	Unknown, of concern	L3
Trazodone	Unknown, of concern	L2
	able. fer; L3 = moderately safe;	L4 = possibly hazardous;
L5 = contraindicated.		
Information from reference 62.		

Table 3 Lactation risk of commonly prescribed antidepressants

In Table 3, we can see all the antidepressant medications that can be subscribed to breastfeeding women with PPD(19).

If a patient has had success with a particular SSRI in the past, it is recommended to start with that one. For women who have recently given birth, it's important to be cautious due to the effects of hormones on liver enzymes, drug-binding proteins, and increased distribution volume. Starting with half the typical dosage and gradually increasing may be advised. Conversely, pregnant women often require higher doses of medication due to increased distribution volume. For nursing mothers, it's important to consider the transfer of medication into breast milk(19).

Before giving the woman medical advice or prescribing antidepressants for her, it is crucial to think about, discuss, and take into account the medication's side effects and potential exposure of them through lactation(2).

The woman should be admitted to the hospital immediately, receive same-day psychiatric consultation, and be prescribed antidepressant and antipsychotic medications as an emergency treatment if she has suicidal thoughts, thoughts of harming her child, or experiences a psychotic episode(19).

Prevention

The automated conduct of routine examinations for the purpose of identifying depressive symptoms should be mandated for all expectant mothers. The EPDS or PHQ-9 should be utilised as a screening instrument. This questionnaire should be available for the patient in the obstetrician gynecologist, family physician, and midwife's offices(1,5).

Midwives, obstetrician gynecologists, or any other medical professionals who treat the lady throughout her pregnancy and the postpartum period should conduct a comprehensive examination to determine whether she has a history of mental illness or whether it runs in her family. Any potential postpartum depression risk factors should be examined (1,5).

The best prevention tool for postpartum depression is such as screening tools, Edinburgh postnatal depression scale EPDS, the postpartum depression screening scale PDSS, and the patient health questionnaire PHQ-9.

A multidisciplinary team of healthcare providers can offer an early treatment plan by employing the screening tool while pregnant, such as a midwife or obstetrician gynecologist. If a qualified psychiatrist is required, the woman should be referred to them for the psychological assistance they require(1,5).

Once a woman has been diagnosed with PPD, the best treatment option should be made available to her. The first line of treatment for a breastfeeding woman with mild to moderate PPD should be psychotherapy, either CBT or IPT, which can be provided in person, in a group setting, or online. Pharmacological therapy, such as serotonin, should be made available to a woman with severe PPD. However, she should be aware of any potential negative effects it might have on her, the fetus, and her child through breast milk(1,5).

If a pregnant woman has the risk factors but doesn't exhibit any symptoms of depression, she should regularly go through the screening process(5).

The woman's vulnerability, family situation, housing situation, relationship with her partner, and whether or not she has any domestic support systems, such as grandparents, sister, or friends, should all be known to the woman's healthcare providers during pregnancy and the postpartum period. This will give the healthcare professionals the knowledge they need to be able to assist the patient after delivery and in her PPD struggle(1,5).

The prognosis for the health of women, children, and the entire family is improved by early screening, recognition, and treatment of PPD; this also averts the terrible effects of PPD, particularly self-harm or injury to the child when suicidal thoughts are present. Additionally, it shields the offspring of a PPD mother from developing chronic health issues(5). Numerous reviews have established that a variety of interventions may be effective in preventing PPD; during the first six months, it has been demonstrated that there is an approximate 27% decrease in the prevalence of depressive episodes and a decrease in depressive symptoms(32).

It can be seen from Table 4 that different countries have different recommendation guidelines for the prevention of PPD, which are available to healthcare professionals. The recommendations give the professionals the best prevention tools to prevent PPD or reduce its impact on the woman, child, and family(5).

Table 4. Recommendation guidelines for the prevention of PPD (5)

Organization	Recommendation
U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF), 2016 [44]	Recommends routine screening of adult populations and pregnant and postpartum women. At the same time, it indicates the need to provide the examined person with access to further care and coordinated treatment.
American Psychiatric Association (APA), 2010 [10] American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), 2007 [45]	Recommends a routine screening for PPD during a follow-up gynecological visit 4–6 weeks after childbirth. The patient during pregnancy should be educated about possible complications associated with PPD. Patients with baby blues symptoms require special monitoring and evaluation of depressive symptoms.
American Academy of Pediatrics Bright Futures (AAP), 2010 [46]	The role of the pediatrician as the key to ensuring health for the whole family, the mother's mental problems directly affect the child's development. The guidelines recommend that pediatricians should routinely assess the presence of depression in women who come to visit with their children.
American College of Nurse-Midwives, 2003 [47]	As a routine part of the care of a patient during pregnancy and after childbirth, it is recommended to screen for PPD.
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2014 [48]	Recommends routine assessment for depressive symptoms in every woman in the perinatal period using standardized screening tools. This examination should be performed at least twice (at the first visit during pregnancy and during the first year after birth). NICE recommends a set of two initial "Whooley questions." If a woman answers positively to any of the two questions, or is at risk of mental illness, or if her clinical history indicates depression, a full assessment of her mental condition using EPDS or PHQ-9 screening tools or referral for further treatment (family doctor or specialist psychiatrist) is recommended. It also recommends asking woman about the history of alcohol and drug addictions.
Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN), 2012 [15]	Recommends a minimum of three assessments (during the first visit in pregnancy, 4–6 weeks and 3–4 months after the childbirth). In addition, it is advisable to add an interview for affective disorders, and in the case of a positive interview, a screening for depression at each visit. Same as NICE, SIGN recommends a set of two initial questions for screening and, if further evaluation is needed, use the EPDS scale.
Beyondblue, Guideline for Primary Care Health Professionals, 2011 [49]	Recommends using the EPDS questionnaire to examine all pregnant and postpartum women for depression as part of an assessment for the occurrence of depressive and anxiety symptoms. Screening should be performed between 6 and 12 weeks after childbirth during the follow-up visit. A score of 13 or more may be interpreted as postpartum depression.
American Psychiatric Association (APA), 2010 [10]	Recommended non-pharmacological interventions include CBT and interpersonal therapy. The risk of potential exposure of the child to the drug should be taken into account when deciding whether to use pharmacological treatment during breast-feeding.
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2014 [48]	Recommends a stepwise approach to treatment model (does not apply to women with a severe disease episode, which should be immediately referred to specialist psychiatric care). Mild to moderate PPD can be successfully treated at the level of primary care. NICE also emphasizes that a comprehensive appointment and treatment plan should be prepared for women with already diagnosed mental illness.
Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN), 2012 [15]	CBT therapy should be considered in women with mild to moderate PPD. Both SSRIs and tricyclic antidepressants may be recommended for the treatment of moderate to severe episodes of postpartum depression, after careful assessment of the risk to the breast-fed child.
Beyondblue, Guideline for Primary Care Health Professionals, 2011 [49]	Recommended non-pharmacological interventions include: psychological support, CBT therapy, interpersonal therapy and psychodynamic therapy. When deciding whether to use pharmacological treatment during breastfeeding, the risks arising from the child's potential exposure to the drug should be taken into account.

In the midwives' and obstetricians' offices in Lithuania, the PHQ-9 questionnaire is given to all new mothers. The government has instructed midwives and officials to direct new mothers to the website pagalbasu.lt, where they have compiled information regarding PPD, the symptoms, and whom to contact if they require assistance.

Recommendation to family and staff

It is important to inform all women about PPD and the symptoms to watch out for, as well as their spouses.

- They should be informed about the signs of psychosis.
- They should be made aware of where to go for assistance and who to call in an emergency.
- International standards for PPD prevention and care should be established.
- There should be national standards and recommendations for the prevention and management of PPD.
- There should be criteria for identifying PPD and postpartum psychosis in every emergency room and psychiatry emergency room.
- Explain infant behavioural sleep to the mother and educate her about it. If a baby can sleep, the mother can sleep as well.
- The main obstacle to reaching patients with PPD and treating them is the guilt that many women experience, especially because they are frightened of being judged by society, their spouses, and their families. They choose not to seek assistance, so there must be widespread education about PPD, its effects, and the reasons it is crucial to talk about it in order to encourage mothers to do the same.
- Home visits should be more common.
- Rather than creating a questionnaire from an MDD questionnaire, more aquert questionnaires specifically for PPD should be created, allowing women to express how they feel.

Conclusion

Women who have given birth are susceptible to postpartum depression, a severe mental illness. PPD can have disastrous effects on a woman's life, as well as on her child's life and her relationship with her partner. It can also have a long-lasting detrimental effect on the child's life.

The significance of early detection is that it provides the appropriate treatment, whether it be phycological treatment or medication, by employing several screening techniques throughout pregnancy and taking into account the risk factors. The most tragic untreated effects of PPD can be prevented, including suicide, self-harm, and injury to children. We can protect the health and future prospects of families, women, and children by acting quickly.

The correct information must be provided to society since PPD frequently goes undetected and untreated despite its high prevalence and potentially disastrous consequences. It is important to educate and enlighten expectant mothers, their partners, and their families about PPD, postpartum psychosis, and the effects of untreated PPD.

The optimal treatment, risk factors, and new screening techniques that better capture the experiences of a PPD woman in-depth need to be the subject of additional research.

More research should be done to understand the underlying mechanism of PPD, especially the genetic aspect.

Reference:

- 1. O'hara MW, Engeldinger J. Treatment of Postpartum Depression: Recommendations for the Clinician [Internet]. 2018. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/clinicalobgyn
- 2. Stewart DE, Vigod SN. Annual Review of Medicine Postpartum Depression: Pathophysiology, Treatment, and Emerging Therapeutics. Annu Rev Med 2019 [Internet]. 2019;70:183–96. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-041217-
- 3. van der Zee-van den Berg AI, Boere-Boonekamp MM, Groothuis-Oudshoorn CGM, Reijneveld SA. Postpartum depression and anxiety: a community-based study on risk factors before, during and after pregnancy. J Affect Disord. 2021 May 1;286:158–65.
- 4. Werner E, Miller M, Osborne LM, Kuzava S, Monk C. Preventing postpartum depression: review and recommendations. Vol. 18, Archives of Women's Mental Health. Springer-Verlag Wien; 2015. p. 41–60.
- 5. Dominiak M, Antosik-Wojcinska AZ, Baron M, Mierzejewski P, Swiecicki L. Recommendations for the prevention and treatment of postpartum depression. Ginekol Pol. 2021;92(2):153–64.
- 6. Katon W, Russo J, Gavin A. Predictors of Postpartum Depression. J Womens Health. 2014 Sep 1;23(9):753–9.
- 7. Silverman ME, Reichenberg A, Savitz DA, Cnattingius S, Lichtenstein P, Hultman CM, et al. The risk factors for postpartum depression: A population-based study. Depress Anxiety. 2017 Feb 1;34(2):178–87.
- 8. O'Hara MW, Mc Cabe JE. Postpartum depression: Current status and future directions. Vol. 9, Annual Review of Clinical Psychology. 2013. p. 379–407.

- 9. Brummelte S, Galea LAM. Postpartum depression: Etiology, treatment and consequences for maternal care. Horm Behav. 2016 Jan 1;77:153–66.
- 10. Guintivano J, Manuck T, Meltzer-Brody S. Predictors of Postpartum Depression: A Comprehensive Review of the Last Decade of Evidence. Vol. 61, Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2018. p. 591–603.
- 11. Payne JL, Maguire J. Pathophysiological mechanisms implicated in postpartum depression. Vol. 52, Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology. Academic Press Inc.; 2019. p. 165–80.
- 12. Tebeka S, Le Strat Y, Dubertret C. Developmental trajectories of pregnant and postpartum depression in an epidemiologic survey. J Affect Disord. 2016 Oct 1;203:62–8.
- 13. Gastaldon C, Solmi M, Correll CU, Barbui C, Schoretsanitis G. Risk factors of postpartum depression and depressive symptoms: Umbrella review of current evidence from systematic reviews and meta-analyses of observational studies. Vol. 221, British Journal of Psychiatry. Cambridge University Press; 2022. p. 591–602.
- 14. Ukatu N, Clare CA, Brulja M. Review Article Postpartum Depression Screening Tools: A Review [Internet]. Vol. 59, Psychosomatics. 2018. Available from: www.psychosomaticsjournal.org
- 15. Kroska EB, Stowe ZN. Postpartum Depression: Identification and Treatment in the Clinic Setting. Vol. 47, Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America. W.B. Saunders; 2020. p. 409–19.
- 16. Learman LA, Schmidt CE. Screening for Depression in Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period [Internet]. 2018. Available from: www.clinicalobgyn.com
- 17. Beck CT. Postpartum Depression: A Metaphorical Analysis. J Am Psychiatr Nurses Assoc. 2022 Sep 1;28(5):382–90.
- 18. 10.1097@01.NURSE.0000657072.85990.5a.
- 19. Langan RC, Goodbred AJ. Identification and Management of Peripartum Depression [Internet]. Vol. 93. 2016. Available from: http://www.wpspublish.com/
- 20. Friedman SH, Reed E, Ross NE. Postpartum Psychosis. Current Psychiatry Reports. Springer; 2023.
- 21. Rommel AS, Molenaar NM, Gilden J, Kushner SA, Westerbeek NJ, Kamperman AM, et al. Long-term outcome of postpartum psychosis: a prospective clinical cohort study in 106 women. Int J Bipolar Disord. 2021 Dec 1;9(1).
- 22. Wilkinson A, Anderson S, Wheeler SB. Screening for and Treating Postpartum Depression and Psychosis: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis. Matern Child Health J. 2017 Apr 1;21(4):903–14.
- 23. Mota NP, Chartier M, Ekuma O, Nie Y, Hensel JM, MacWilliam L, et al. Mental Disorders and Suicide Attempts in the Pregnancy and Postpartum Periods Compared with Non-Pregnancy: A Population-Based Study. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2019 Jul 1;64(7):482–91.
- 24. Slomian J, Honvo G, Emonts P, Reginster JY, Bruyère O. Consequences of maternal postpartum depression: A systematic review of maternal and infant outcomes. Vol. 15, Women's Health. SAGE Publications Ltd; 2019.
- 25. Amiri S, Behnezhad S. The global prevalence of postpartum suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and suicide mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Ment Health. 2021;50(4):311–36.

- 26. de Avila Quevedo L, Scholl CC, de Matos MB, da Silva RA, da Cunha Coelho FM, Pinheiro KAT, et al. Suicide Risk and Mood Disorders in Women in the Postpartum Period: a Longitudinal Study. Psychiatric Quarterly. 2021 Jun 1;92(2):513–22.
- 27. Dias CC, Figueiredo B. Breastfeeding and depression: A systematic review of the literature. Vol. 171, Journal of Affective Disorders. Elsevier B.V.; 2015. p. 142–54.
- 28. Farías-Antúnez S, Xavier MO, Santos IS. Effect of maternal postpartum depression on offspring's growth. Vol. 228, Journal of Affective Disorders. Elsevier B.V.; 2018. p. 143–52.
- 29. Guille C, Newman R, Fryml LD, Lifton CK, Epperson CN. Management of postpartum depression. Vol. 58, Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health. John Wiley and Sons Inc.; 2013. p. 643–53.
- 30. Frieder A, Fersh M, Hainline R, Deligiannidis KM. Pharmacotherapy of Postpartum Depression: Current Approaches and Novel Drug Development. Vol. 33, CNS Drugs. Springer International Publishing; 2019. p. 265–82.
- 31. Reuveni I, Lauria M, Monk C, Werner E. The impact of childhood trauma on psychological interventions for depression during pregnancy and postpartum: a systematic review. Vol. 24, Archives of Women's Mental Health. Springer; 2021. p. 367–80.
- 32. Sockol LE, Epperson CN, Barber JP. Preventing postpartum depression: A meta-analytic review. Vol. 33, Clinical Psychology Review. 2013. p. 1205–17.
- 33. <a href="https://www.uptodate.com/contents/gestational-diabetes-mellitus-screening-diagnosis-and-prevention?search=gestanional%20diabetes&source=search_result&selectedTitle=2~150&usage_type=default&display_rank=2
- 34. Carpenter MW, Coustan DR. Criteria for screening tests for gestational diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1982; 144:768.
- 35. Gregory EC, Ely DM. Trends and Characteristics in Gestational Diabetes: United States, 2016-2020. Natl Vital Stat Rep 2022; 71:1.
- 36. Bilous RW, Jacklin PB, Maresh MJ, Sacks DA. Resolving the Gestational Diabetes Diagnosis Conundrum: The Need for a Randomized Controlled Trial of Treatment. Diabetes Care 2021; 44:858.
- 37. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel, Metzger BE, Gabbe SG, et al. International association of diabetes and pregnancy study groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Care 2010; 33:676.
- 38. Guariguata L, Linnenkamp U, Beagley J, et al. Global estimates of the prevalence of hyperglycaemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014; 103:176.